# S191550

No. S\_\_\_\_\_ (Court of Appeal Nos. B202789 & B205034) (Los Angeles Super. Ct. No. BC209992 (related to No. BC263701)) SUPREME COURT FILED

MAP 1 8 2011

Frederick K. Ohinch Clerk

# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

SARGON ENTERPRISES, INC.,

Plaintiff and Appellant,

v.

### UNIVERSITY OF SOUTHERN CALIFORNIA et al.,

Defendants and Appellants.

After A Decision By The Court Of Appeal Second Appellate District, Division One

#### PETITION FOR REVIEW

KATHLEEN M. SULLIVAN
(S.B. No. 242261)

DANIEL H. BROMBERG
(S.B. No. 242659)

QUINN EMANUEL URQUHART
& SULLIVAN LLP
555 Twin Dolphin Drive, 5th Fl.
Redwood Shores, CA 94065

Telephone: (650) 801-5000

#### **ISSUE PRESENTED**

Does Evidence Code section 801(b) permit a trial court to review the basis of an opinion by an expert witness and to exclude that opinion if it is based on a speculative or unreliable methodology that is incapable of assisting the jury?

#### **INTRODUCTION**

In this case, an expert witness opined that the University of Southern California ("USC") faced the staggering sum of \$1.2 billion in potential lost profit damages for failure to complete a 23-person clinical study of a new dental implant by a tiny startup company, Sargon Enterprises, Inc. ("Sargon"). The trial court ruled the expert's opinion inadmissible after an eight-day evidentiary hearing, finding it based on "pure speculation" rather than any reliable method for calculating lost profits. (Tr. Ct. Opn. 2.)<sup>1</sup> A divided panel of the Court of Appeal reversed, holding that any assessment of whether the expert opinion was based on a reliable methodology was a matter for the jury.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Citations to the trial court's opinion excluding the expert's testimony are to the page numbers in the opinion, which is reprinted at pages 5328-60 of volume 21 of the appellant's appendix.

The decision below thus raises the same important issue on which this Court granted review in the *Lockheed Litigation Cases*, S132167, but could not resolve in those cases because of recusals after briefing on the merits—namely, whether section 801(b) of the Evidence Code authorizes California trial courts to assess the reliability of the methodologies that underlie an expert witness's conclusions. Court of Appeal decisions were divided on that question then and continue to be divided on it now. This petition presents an excellent vehicle for this Court to return to that issue and provide much-needed guidance to the lower courts.

The trial court's exclusion ruling here found the expert witness's opinion inadmissible because it did not use any well-established or otherwise known or reliable technique for calculating lost profit damages. The expert's opinion was not based on Sargon's historical performance, for the expert's lost profits projections "were wildly beyond, by degrees of magnitude, anything Sargon had ever experienced in the past." (Tr. Ct. Opn. 9.) Nor was the expert's opinion based on comparison to any company remotely similar to

Sargon, because the expert reverse-engineered his projections from the performance of the six global leaders in the dental implant industry—multibillion-dollar corporations that were "worlds apart from Sargon" by every objective business measure. (*Id.* at p. 10.) Instead, the expert's opinion relied on a novel "market drivers" theory that he invented for this case—a theory that posited that a single innovative dental implant without more could transform a tiny startup company into a global leader virtually overnight. The trial court found that "[t]his 'Field of Dreams' 'trust me' analysis forces us to assume, speculate and believe too much." (*Id.* at p. 30, fn. omitted.)

A divided panel of the Second District Court of Appeal found that the trial court had abused its discretion in excluding the expert testimony. The majority held that evaluation of whether the expert's opinion had any reasonable basis was "better left for the jury's assessment." (Typed Opn. 30-31.) The dissenting justice disagreed, finding the trial court's carefully articulated 33-page order excluding the expert opinion "a well-reasoned and sound exercise of its

discretion" that lacked "even a smidgeon of arbitrariness or capriciousness." (Dissenting Opn. 6, 7, fn. omitted.)

The need for this Court's guidance on the scope of trial discretion to admit or exclude expert testimony is especially acute in the context of expert opinions on lost profits damages. "[A] jury's common sense is less available than usual to protect it" against such opinions, no matter how baseless or inflated, because complicated arrays of financial figures convey a "delusive impression of exactness." (Herman Schwabe Inc. v. United Shoe Mach. Corp. (2d. Cir. 1962) 297 F.2d 906, 912 [Friendly, J.].) As the dissenting justice below stated, "[t]he case before us exposes the need for a clear statement from our Supreme Court to render guidance to trial and appellate courts as to the role of discretion in evidentiary rulings regarding the necessary measure of proof to establish lost profit damages." (Dissenting Opn. 8.)

Resolving this issue has great importance to the fairness and efficiency of civil litigation in California. Expert witness opinions play a crucial role in a broad range of civil cases, and expert testimony on damages is presented in nearly every case in which a substantial

recovery is sought. If experts are permitted to speculate wildly about lost profits damages as the expert did here, and juries are thus left free to render staggering verdicts, many defendants will be forced to accept extortionate settlements rather than take the risk of going to trial in betthe-company (or bet-the-university) cases. This case is a perfect example: the \$1.2 billion in damages sought against USC based upon the testimony of Sargon's expert would devastate the University's endowment and force severe cutbacks in its educational operations.

This Court should grant review to address the important question whether the California Evidence Code gives trial courts the discretion to prevent such unjust results by reviewing the basis for expert witness opinions and excluding those that are based on a speculative or unreliable methodology or are otherwise incapable of assisting the jury.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case arises from a long-running dispute over USC's 1996 agreement that its Dental School would conduct a 23-patient, five-year clinical study of a new dental implant developed by Sargon. In 2003, a jury found that USC had breached the agreement and awarded Sargon

\$433,000 in damages. (Typed Opn. 2.) This award did not include any prospective lost profits because the prior trial court had held that Sargon had failed to raise a genuine issue concerning foreseeability, a prerequisite for such consequential damages. (*Ibid.*) On appeal, the Second District held as a matter of law that there was sufficient evidence for a jury to conclude that lost profits were foreseeable, but noted that it was premature to conclude whether lost profits could be established with reasonable certainty and remanded for further proceedings. (*Id.* at p. 3.)

The Expert's Testimony—On remand, Sargon sought to present expert witness testimony concerning lost profits from James Skorheim, who is a certified public accountant and lawyer, not an economist or dentist. (Typed Opn. 21.) Although Sargon is a small company that has never had more than twenty employees or profits of more than \$100,000 a year (*id.* at p. 23; Tr. Ct. Opn. 10, fn.4), Skorheim opined that, but for USC's breach, Sargon's profits would have increased in the time period from 1998 to 2009 to as much as \$142 million a year (a 157,000% increase) and to no less than \$26 million a year (a 29,000% increase).

(Typed Opn. 25, 27; 40AA10248, 10251.) Based upon these projected increases in profits, Skorheim calculated Sargon's total lost profits during the time period to be as high as \$1.18 billion and no less than \$220 million. (Typed Opn. 25.)

Skorheim did not base his calculations upon extrapolation from Sargon's historical sales and revenues, which he deemed irrelevant to his analysis (Tr. Ct. Opn. 8-9 & fn.2), or from the growth pattern of any other dental implant company that began from a size or budget similar to Sargon's—the typical starting points for calculating future lost profits. Instead, Skorheim based his calculations upon the assumption that, if only USC had completed its study, by 2009 Sargon would have obtained the same market share as one of the six global leaders in the dental implant industry, each of which is a multinational, multibillion-dollar corporation with annual revenues and profits hundreds if not thousands of times greater than Sargon. (Typed Opn. 23, 25.)

Skorheim based his assumption that Sargon would have become a market leader upon a "market drivers" theory he invented for this case. Although he admittedly had no expertise in the dental implant

industry, he hypothesized, based upon his review of industry studies and annual reports as well as three interviews, that innovation was the key "market driver" in the dental implant industry and that the market share of each of the dental implant industry leaders corresponded to its relative innovativeness. (*Id.* at pp. 21-22.) Skorheim then opined that, if Sargon's implant were "revolutionary," it would have obtained a 20% market share, resulting in lost profits of \$1.2 billion; if Sargon offered a "substantial" innovation, it would have obtained 10% of the global market, resulting in lost profits of \$600 million; and if Sargon made a "good" or "meaningful contributi[on]," its market share would have been 5% or 3.75%, resulting in lost profits of \$315 million or \$220 million respectively. (Id. at p. 25; Trial Ct. Opn. 4-5.) Skorheim admittedly offered no definition of or standards for distinguishing among these levels of innovation. (Typed Opn. 25; Tr. Ct. Opn. 16-18.) In addition, in calculating Sargon's lost profits, Skorheim assumed that Sargon's revenue in 1998 would have doubled absent a breach, that Sargon's revenues would ramp up smoothly without any significant competitive response from existing market leaders, and that its profit margin would jump from 5% to the 30% enjoyed by those leaders. (Typed Opn. 27; Trial Ct. Opn. 8-9 & fn.2.)

The Trial Court's Ruling—USC moved in limine to exclude Skorheim's testimony, and the trial court conducted an eight-day hearing in which the bases for Skorheim's opinions were thoroughly examined. (Tr. Ct. Opn. 4; 4RT J1 to 11RT 2069.) Concluding that these opinions were too baseless and speculative to admit even with all inferences drawn in their favor, the trial court excluded Skorheim's testimony, setting forth its reasons in a detailed 33-page opinion.

First, the trial court found that Skorheim's lost profit calculations were not based upon historical performance, but rather "are wildly beyond, by degrees of magnitude, anything that Sargon had ever experienced in the past." (Tr. Ct. Opn. 9.) Far from extrapolating from historical performance, the court found that Skorheim calculated lost profits by determining what Sargon's market share supposedly would be in 2009 and then assuming that its market share would "ramp up" accordingly. (*Id.* at pp. 6-9 & fn.2.)

Second, the trial court found that Skorheim had improperly failed to compare Sargon to similarly situated companies, another typical basis for calculating lost profits. Instead Skorheim compared Sargon with companies that were, in the court's words, "worlds apart from Sargon" by every objective business measure—giant multinational corporations with "employees in the thousands and budgets in the billions." (*Id.* at p. 10 & fn.4.) The court observed that "[t]he only thing these established companies have in common with Plaintiff is that they all sell or make dental implants." (*Id.* at p. 10)

Third, the trial court found that Skorheim's opinion failed to give the jury any useful guidance, for it would have required the jury to pick among the four categories of innovativeness to determine projected market share, but provided "no rational standards for the jury to follow in choosing." (*Id.* at p. 18.) This feature of Skorheim's opinion "relegate[d] the question of determining potentially more than a billion dollars in damages to pure speculation." (*Id.* at p. 21.)

Fourth, the trial court found that Skorheim lacked any expertise for determining the importance of innovativeness to dental implants or

for assessing relative innovativeness of the Sargon implant. (*Id.* at pp. 17, 23.) The court noted that Skorheim's "market drivers" analysis rested only upon "what he has read in the lay press and learned from informal interviews" with Sargon's principal and others. (*Id.* at p. 24.)

Fifth, the trial court found that Skorheim's testimony rested on arbitrary and unfounded factual assumptions, including that Sargon would be able to make a "seamless transition" from a three-person operation to a multimillion-dollar international corporation (id. at p. 28), and that the existing multibillion-dollar market leaders would "just go quietly" rather than compete in response (id. at p. 29).

Finding each of these deficiencies fatal, the court excluded the testimony as inadmissible under Evidence Code section 801(b).

The Court Of Appeal Decision—On appeal, a divided panel of the Second District reversed the trial court's inadmissibility ruling for abuse of discretion. The majority did not consider the reasonableness of Skorheim's "market driver" analysis or discuss any of the trial court's specific objections to Skorheim's unfounded assumptions or questionable methods. Instead, the majority noted that "[t]echnical

arguments about the meaning and effect of expert testimony on the issue of damages are best directed to the jury" (Typed Opn. 19, citation omitted), and stated simply that "[w]e have carefully reviewed the trial court's criticisms of Skorheim's proffered testimony and conclude they were better left for the jury's assessment" (id. at pp. 30-31).

The majority rejected USC's argument that Skorheim's opinion was properly excluded because it was based on a comparison to noncomparable companies, like the expert opinion that *Parlour Enterprises*, *Inc. v. Kirin Group, Inc.* (2007) 152 Cal.App.4th 281, found inadmissible because it compared a small ice cream parlor to the national Friendly's chain. Without explanation, the majority asserted that Skorheim's opinion was more like the one found admissible in *Palm Medical Group*, *Inc. v. State Compensation Insurance Fund* (2008) 161 Cal.App.4th 206, even though that opinion had simply compared a Fresno occupational medical clinic to other, similarly sized medical providers serving similar patient populations in the same city. (Typed Opn. 30.)

Justice Johnson dissented. Noting that admissibility of expert opinion evidence is committed to the discretion of trial courts, and that

12

nothing in the trial court's "reasonable, straightforward and clearly articulated evidentiary ruling" was arbitrary, capricious, or beyond the bounds of reason, he concluded that the exclusion of Skorheim's testimony should have been upheld. (Dissenting Opn. 7; see also *id.* at pp. 1-6.) He criticized the majority for "ignoring the function of discretion in trial court evidentiary rulings" and "usurp[ing] the function of the trial court." (*Id.* at p. 7.) The majority's approach, he observed, "dangerously erodes the function of the trial court in making evidentiary rulings on lost profit damages." (*Id.* at p. 8.)

#### **REASONS FOR GRANTING REVIEW**

### I. THE DECISION BELOW CONFLICTS WITH EVIDENCE CODE SECTION 801(b)

In the *Lockheed Litigation Cases*, this Court granted review to resolve whether section 801(b) of the Evidence Code permits a trial court to review the basis for an expert witness opinion and to determine if it rests upon a reliable methodology. The same question is presented here and continues to warrant this Court's review.

Section 801 of the Evidence Code "sets the standard for the admissibility of [expert opinion] testimony." (Cal. Law Revision Com.

com., 29B pt. 3A West's Ann. Evid. Code (2009 ed.) foll. § 801, p. 25.) Section 801(b) limits expert testimony to opinions that are based upon "matter . . . that is of a type that *reasonably* may be relied upon by an expert in forming upon the subject to which his testimony relates." (Evid. Code, § 801, subd. (b), italics added; see *Kelley v. Trunk* (1998) 66 Cal.App.4th 519, 524; 1 Witkin, Cal. Evidence (2010 supp.) Opinion Evidence, § 31, pp. 158-59.) The purpose of this requirement is to "assure[] the reliability and trustworthiness of the information used by experts in forming their opinions." (Cal. Law Revision Com. com., *supra*, foll. § 801, p. 26.)

Section 801(b) thus contemplates that trial courts will play a crucial gatekeeping role in admitting or excluding expert witness testimony, reviewing the methodologies underlying expert opinions and excluding them unless they are "of a type that *reasonably* may be relied upon." (Evid. Code, § 801, subd. (b), italics added.) Accordingly, section 801(b) prohibits admission of opinions that are based upon "irrelevant and speculative matters," such as a comparison among matters "if the matters compared are not reasonably

comparable." (Cal. Law Revision Com. com., *supra*, foll. § 801, p. 25, describing *Roscoe Moss Co. v. Jenkins* (1942) 55 Cal.App.2d 369.)

The interpretation of section 801(b) as conferring upon the trial court such a gatekeeping role over expert testimony is reinforced by the surrounding portions of the Evidence Code. Section 801(a) permits experts to offer opinions only if they are "[r]elated to a subject that is sufficiently beyond common experience that the opinion of an expert would assist the trier of fact." (Evid. Code, § 801, subd. (a), italics added; see People v. Cole (1956) 47 Cal.2d 99, 103; Westbrooks v. California (1985) 173 Cal. App.3d 1203, 1210; 1 Witkin, Cal. Evidence (4th ed. 2000) Opinion Evidence, § 29, pp. 558-60.) Section 802 permits examination of "the reasons for" an opinion "and the matter (including, in the case of an expert, his special knowledge, skill, experience, training, and education) upon which it is based." (Evid. Code, § 802; see Faigman & Imwinkelried, Evidence Code Section 802: The Neglected Key to Rationalizing the California Law of Expert Testimony (2009) 42 Loy. L.A. L.Rev. 427, 440-42 [noting that section 802, by permitting exclusion of expert opinions where the expert "is precluded by law from using such

reasons or matter as a basis for his opinion," authorizes courts "to promulgate case law restrictions on an expert's reasons, " citation and quotation omitted].) And section 803 provide that a court "may, and upon objection shall, exclude testimony in the form of an opinion that is based in whole or in significant part on matter that is not a proper basis for such an opinion." (Evid. Code, § 803.)

The Court of Appeal decision below conflicts with section 801(b). In holding that the numerous deficiencies of Skorheim's testimony "were better left for the jury's assessment" (Typed Opn. 30-31), the majority eliminated the crucial gatekeeping role of the trial court. The conflict between this decision and section 801(b) warrants this Court's resolution today just as it did at the time of the grant of review in the *Lockheed Litigation Cases*.

### II. THE DECISION BELOW CONFLICTS WITH OTHER COURT OF APPEAL DECISIONS

In addition to conflicting with the Evidence Code, the decision below deepens the conflict among Court of Appeal decisions that prompted this Court to grant review in the *Lockheed Litigation Cases*. The decision below also creates a conflict with other Court of Appeal

decisions as to whether expert testimony on lost profits damages may be based on comparisons among wildly dissimilar companies. This case is an excellent vehicle for resolving both conflicts.

A. The Decision Below Deepens The Conflict Over Whether Trial Courts Have Discretion To Review The Basis For Expert Opinions And To Exclude Those That Rely Upon Speculative Or Unreliable Methodologies

As this Court recognized in granting review in the *Lockheed Litigation Cases*, Court of Appeal decisions have divided over the scope of trial court discretion to review the basis for expert witness opinions and to exclude those that rely upon speculative or unreliable methodologies. Because *Lockheed* was dismissed with the issue unresolved, the lower courts continue to be divided over this issue.

Numerous commentators have noted the persistence of this conflict in the lower courts. (See Armstrong et al., Effective Introduction of Evidence in Cal. (Cont.Ed.Bar 2d ed. 2011) Expert Witnesses, § 24.25, p. 378 ["[T]he courts of appeal have expressed different views on the extent to which §801 should be used to exclude expert opinion."]; Caufield, *The Role of Expert Testimony in Evidentiary Law Cases, in* New Developments in Evidentiary Law in California

(May 1, 2010) p. 63 [noting that, since the Lockheed dismissal, lower courts are split over whether they should act as gatekeepers against unreliable expert testimony]; Cal. Expert Witness Guide (Cont.Ed.Bar 2d ed. 2010) § 4.9A, p. 68 [recognizing a conflict among Court of Appeal decisions concerning trial court authority to assess the reasonableness of expert medical witness testimony]; 3 Faigman et al., Modern Scientific Evidence (2009-2010) Medicine, Toxicology & Epidemiology § 22:10, p. 146, fn.27 [noting conflict between the Lockheed Litigation Cases and Roberti v. Andy's Termite & Pest Control, Inc. (2003) 113 Cal.App.4th 893]; 1 Jefferson, Cal. Evidence Benchbook (Cont.Ed.Bar 4th ed. 2010) Opinion Testimony From Expert and Lay Witnesses, § 30.40, p. 680 [same].) Some commentators have observed that only this Court can resolve this persistent conflict. (See, e.g., Cal. Expert Witness Guide, supra, § 4.9A, p. 68 ["Ultimately the California Supreme Court must provide more guidance on this issue."].)

One line of cases, exemplified by the Court of Appeal decisions in the *Lockheed Litigation Cases* themselves, holds that trial courts have broad discretion to review expert testimony for the substantive

reasonableness of its underlying methodology. In its first decision in Lockheed Litigation Cases, the Second District held that, under Evidence Code section 801, the matter relied upon by an expert "must provide a reasonable basis for the particular opinion offered, and that an expert opinion based upon speculation or conjecture is inadmissible." (In re Lockheed Litigation Cases (2004) 115 Cal. App. 4th 558, 564.) In that case, the expert testified that exposure to five chemicals increased the plaintiffs' risk of cancer based upon an epidemiological study. (*Id.* at p. 562.) Because the study dealt with exposure to thousands of chemicals in addition to those at issue in the case, the trial court found that the expert lacked a reasonable basis for his opinion and excluded it under section 801(b) (id. at pp. 564-65), and the Court of Appeal affirmed on abuse of discretion review, noting that "[a] trial court exercises discretion when ruling on the admissibility of expert testimony under Evidence Code section 801" (id. at p. 564).

In a subsequent case in the same coordinated proceedings, the trial court excluded expert testimony on causation based on animal studies and case reports as well as epidemiological studies concerning

multiple solvents. (*In re Lockheed Litigation Cases* (2005) 23 Cal.Rptr.3d 762, 772.)<sup>2</sup> The Court of Appeal again affirmed upon review for abuse of discretion. (*Id.* at pp. 771-74.) Moreover, the court reiterated that "[a] court determining whether there is a reasonable basis for an expert opinion under Evidence Code Section 801, subdivision (b), *must* examine the matter that the expert relied on in [] forming his or her opinion." (*Id.* at p. 772, italics added.)

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