S191550

IN THE

SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA

SARGON ENTERPRISES, INC.,

Respondent,

VS.

UNIVERSITY OF SOUTHERN CALIFORNIA, et al.

Petitioner.

APR 0 6 2011 Frederick K. Onlinch Clerk Deputy

After a Decision by the Court of Appeal Second Appellate District, Division One Case Nos. B202789 & B205034

(Los Angeles Superior Court Case No. BC209992 (related to No. BC263701))

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

BROWNE WOODS GEORGE LLP

Allan Browne (State Bar No. 34923)

Eric M. George (State Bar No. 166403)

Benjamin D. Scheibe (State Bar No. 101327)

Ira Bibbero (State Bar No. 217518)

2121 Avenue of the Stars, 24th Floor

Los Angeles, CA 90067

Telephone: 310.274.7100

Facsimile: 310.275.5697

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

ARGUMENT

I. No Statutory Ground For Review Exists.

Rule 8.500 of the California Rules of Court specifies only limited grounds for review by this Court. Though USC fails to identify the specific prong of Rule 8.500 under which it seeks review, it appears to argue that review is "necessary to secure uniformity of decision or to settle an important question of law." (Cal. Rules of Court, rule 8.500(b)(1).) It is not.

A. <u>USC's Petition Is Undermined By The Consistency of</u> <u>Published Case Law Cited In The Unpublished Opinion</u> Below.

USC concedes that the two published decisions addressed below by the Court of Appeal – Parlour Enterprises, Inc. v. Kirin Group, Inc. (2007) 152 Cal.App.4th 281, and Palm Medical Group, Inc. v. State Compensation Ins. Fund (2008) 161 Cal.App.4th 206 – are consistent in their legal analysis, and merely reached different results by applying that shared legal analysis to differing facts. (Petition, 28 ["[i]n other words, Palm Medical Group rested on the same approach that Parlour Enterprises found lacking: the expert calculated lost profits by comparing similarly sized businesses engaged in similar activities"].)6

The majority found no inconsistency between the two decisions. It held only that Mr. Skorheim's analysis was more like that of the expert in

USC is thus relegated to arguing, here, that the unpublished opinion "conflicts with Evidence Code section 801(b)" (Petition, at 13) and "with other Court of Appeal decisions concerning expert testimony on lost profits" (id., at 24). This contention is not only inaccurate (see Section I.C, infra), but presents no cognizable basis for review. Rather, USC's true complaint appears to be that the Court of Appeal, in an unpublished decision having no precedential value, got it wrong. Simply stated, even were there substantive merit to USC's contention that a single unpublished decision contravened published case law, that contention would fail to present an appropriate ground for review by this Court.

B. This Case Is Not The Proper Vehicle To Resolve A Purported Conflict Among Cases Addressing The Admissibility Of Medical Testimony On Causation.

Apparently recognizing that the uniformity of decisional law relating to expert testimony on lost profits undermines its plea for review under Rule 8.500(b), USC seeks to tease a conflict, any conflict, from the published case law. It settles on a conflict that it claims exists between a couple of cases it cited in passing in the court below and a case cited by

Palm Medical than that of the expert in Parlour Enterprises. (Opinion, 30.) Nor did the dissent find any conflict between the two cases. It argued only that whether Mr. Skorheim's testimony was closer to the testimony found admissible in Palm Medical or the testimony excluded in Parlour Enterprises was a question for the trial court. (Dissenting Opn., 6-7.)

neither of the parties *nor* by the majority or the dissent in the Court of Appeal – *Roberti v. Andy's Termite & Pest Control* (2004) 113 Cal.App.4th 893. (Petition, at 18-22.)⁷ Even assuming the existence of such a conflict, this case is not a proper vehicle to resolve any such "conflict" that is at best tangential to the Court of Appeal decision.

That USC has had to stretch mightily to "borrow" a claimed split of authority from an unrelated area of law is demonstrated by the fact that none of the cases it claims are in conflict is even mentioned, let alone discussed, by *either* the majority opinion *or* the dissenting opinion in the court below. Certainly, neither the majority nor the dissent recognized or commented upon the conflict that USC claims to exist. Likewise, neither found it necessary to ally itself with one or the other of the two supposedly conflicting lines of cases to reach its conclusion.

USC thus identifies a supposed conflict between *Roberti v. Andy's Termite & Pest Control* (2004) 113 Cal.App.4th 893, and three cases only briefly noted in its brief below: *In re Lockheed Litigation Cases* (2002) 115 Cal.App.4th 558, *Dee v. PCS Property Mgm't, Inc.* (2009) 174 Cal.App.4th 390, and *Westrec Marina Mgm't, Inc. v. Jardine Ins. Brokers Orange County, Inc.* (2000) 85 Cal.App.4th 1042. To that list, USC now adds *Smith v. ACandS, Inc.* (1994) 31 Cal.App.4th 77, 92-93, a case not cited below. (Petition, 18-22.) It also references a subsequent opinion from the *Lockheed* litigation – *In re Lockheed Litigation Cases* (2005) 23 Cal.Rptr.3d 762. That decision was vacated, however, by this Court's grant of review, rendering the opinion not citeable (Cal. Rules of Court, rule 8.1115), of no precedential effect, and of no assistance to USC in seeking to establish the existence of a conflict among published decisions of the Court of Appeal.

This is not surprising because, with one exception, these cases dealt, not with expert testimony on lost profits (or damages of any kind), but testimony by medical experts seeking to establish causal links between exposure to certain substances and illnesses suffered by the plaintiffs. (In re Lockheed Litigation cases, supra, 115 Cal.App.4th at pp. 564-565; Dee v. PSC Property Mgm't, supra, 174 Cal.App.4th at p. 405; Smith v. ACandS, Inc., supra, 31 Cal.App.4th at pp. 92-93; Roberti v. Andy's Termite & Pest Control, supra, 113 Cal.App.4th at pp. 897-898.)8 As this case does not involve this issue, or such testimony, it is not the proper vehicle to resolve any supposed conflict raised by these decisions.

C. The Opinion Is Consistent With Established Law.

There is no conflict in the reported cases concerning the trial court's ability to review and exclude an expert's *lost profits* testimony. The majority's conclusion – i.e. that USC's criticisms of Sargon's specific assumptions and methodology are properly left to the jury – instead glides comfortably down the mainstream of reported case law.

The lone exception – Westrec Marina Mgm't v. Jardine Ins. Brokers, supra, 85 Cal.App.4th 1042 – in fact has nothing to do with the remaining cases identified by USC. It mentions neither the case with which USC suggests it conflicts (Roberti) nor any of the other cases with which it is lumped by USC. Nor is Westrec inconsistent with the majority opinion here and, even if it were, this would not justify review for the reasons stated in Section I.A, supra.

For example, in affirming a *lost profits* award against a similar challenge that an expert's projections were unduly speculative, *Heiner v. Kmart Corp.* (2000) 84 Cal.App.4th 335, 347 held: "Technical arguments about the meaning and effect of expert testimony on the issue of damages are best directed to the jury."

Brandon & Tibbs v. George Kevorkian Accountancy Corp. (1990) 226 Cal.App.3d 442, 469, likewise rejected a challenge to another expert's lost profits methodology, stating: "the method of calculation selected by Mr. Gnagy simply goes to the weight to be given Mr. Gnagy's expert opinion evidence. It is for the trier of fact to accept or reject this evidence"

Arntz Contracting Co. v. St. Paul Fire & Marine Ins. Co. (1996) 47 Cal.App.4th 464, 489-90, concurs: "As to the reasonableness of the assumptions underlying the experts' lost profit analysis, criticisms of an expert's method of calculation is a matter for the jury's consideration in weighing that evidence." (Italics added.)

Similarly, *People ex rel. Dep't of Transp. v. Clauser/Wells Partnership* (2002) 95 Cal.App.4th 1066, 1083, reversed the trial court's exclusion, after a 402 hearing, of expert testimony on the value of salvage auto parts. The Court of Appeal again held that the appropriateness of the particular methodology chosen by the expert to value a particular business is "a factual question for the jury." (See also *Douglas v. Ostermeier* (1991)

9

1 Cal.App.4th 729, 739 [assertion that real estate expert's opinion as to property value "was not substantiated by solid documentary evidence is a challenge not to the admissibility of [the expert's] testimony but rather to the weight to be given her opinion"].)9

The majority's holding that it is for the jury to determine the validity of Mr. Skorheim's analysis and projections is consistent with this case law, particularly given that Mr. Skorheim used traditional and long-recognized methods to project Sargon's lost profits. He did not, as USC misleadingly asserts, use a methodology he "invented" for this case. (Petition, 3.) (The only thing "invented" is USC's claim that Mr. Skorheim used an unprecedented approach.) Mr. Skorheim confirmed that the methodology used here is "consistent with the methodology" he has used in other cases and typically is used in cases, like this one, in which one seeks to determine the success that a plaintiff would have attained had it not been for a defendant's wrongful conduct. (4 RT J19:14-J20:11, J27:12-21.)

Cases from other contexts are in accord. (E.g., *Ventura County Flood Control Dist. v. Security First Nat'l Bank* (1971) 15 Cal.App.3d 996, 1003 [trial court "determines the competency and qualification of an expert witness, and the trier of fact is the exclusive judge of the weight to be given to expert testimony"]; *People v. Fulcher* (2006) 136 Cal.App.4th 41, 54 ["erroneous factual assumptions by the experts could be addressed through cross-examination of the experts and by showing there was no evidence to support their conclusions. Defendant's objection to the experts' opinion testimony goes to weight, not the admissibility of their testimony."]; *People v. Brekke* (1967) 250 Cal.App.2d 651, 661-662 [objections to extent of an expert's investigation and sufficiency of basis of his opinion go "not to admissibility but to the weight of his testimony"].)

The majority opinion correctly recognized that Mr. Skorheim's methodology, being based upon, *inter alia*, Sargon's historical performance and the performance of companies identified as comparable to Sargon, is consistent with mainstream lost profits analysis. (Opinion, 21, 30.) Extrapolation based on past performance and comparisons to comparable companies, of course, are both recognized methods of calculating lost profits. (E.g., *Parlour Enters., Inc. v. Kirin Group, Inc.* (2007) 152 Cal.App.4th 281, 288 [lost profit projections may be based upon "market surveys and analyses," the "experience of similar businesses," the "plaintiff's experience in the same business," or "prelitigation projections"].)

Because there is no inconsistency among published opinions on these issues, and the Court of Appeal opinion implicates no important issue of law requiring resolution by this Court, there is no ground for review.

II. Review At This Pre-trial Stage Is Unnecessary And, At Best, Premature.

Even had USC established a proper statutory ground for review (it has not), review is not necessary at this stage of the proceedings. The unpublished opinion of the Court of Appeal simply reversed the trial court's *pre-trial* exclusion of expert testimony on lost profits. No lost profits award has yet been made.

While Sargon believes that it will be awarded lost profits, the jury may well disagree. Or, it may elect to award lost profits at the low end of Mr. Skorheim's calculations, or in an amount less than projected even by Mr. Skorheim's most conservative scenario.

This is precisely what occurred in *Palm Medical Group*, *supra*, 161 Cal.App.4th 206. There, as here, the expert projected a range of profits based on plaintiff's past performance and a comparison to other companies in the field. The Court of Appeal rejected defendant's claims that the expert's testimony was speculative and based on a flawed methodology, and that the expert had selected comparison companies that were not comparable. In so doing, it concluded that the jury apparently took defendant's criticisms into account by awarding lost profits totaling less than half the expert's most "conservative' estimate" of \$2.6 million. (*Id.*, at 228.)

Moreover, while USC raises the bogeyman of a potential billion dollar judgment that could "devastate" its endowment, USC would have the option of posting a bond pending appeal. Review at this pre-trial stage therefore is not necessary to protect USC (or other defendants liable for similar wrongdoing) from being forced to agree to supposedly "extortionate settlements" by fear of so-called "bet-the company" or "bet-the-university" damage awards. (Petition, 5.)

By contrast, granting review will substantially prejudice Sargon. It now is more than 13 years from the date of USC's breach of contract, and eight years since the jury's finding of breach. Yet USC, employing battalions of lawyers and a "no motion left unfiled" approach, has managed for more than a decade to avoid being called upon to pay for the full extent of the harm it caused, having now twice induced trial judges to erroneously exclude evidence of Sargon's lost profits.

This truly is a case in which "justice delayed is justice denied." Sargon is entitled to have its day in court, no matter how much USC may wish otherwise. This Court should permit a jury to assess lost profits, as the Court of Appeal now *twice* has said should occur.

CONCLUSION

The unpublished opinion of the Court of Appeal is of significance to two parties only – USC and Sargon. Review is not necessary either to secure uniformity of law or to settle an important issue of law. The majority opinion below fits comfortably within the mainstream of reported decisions regarding the admissibility of expert testimony in general, and on the issue of lost profits specifically. That USC zealously seeks to avoid

USC breached the parties' contract even before **February 1998**, when the first study report was due (but improperly withheld by USC). (1 AA 214-215, 224.) The jury verdict confirming USC's breach was issued in **March 2003**. (1 AA 194-197.)

having to answer for the full extent of the harm caused by its long-ago adjudicated breach of contract is not a proper ground for review.